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PROHIBITED BEHAVIOUR ORDERS BILL 2010 

Committee 

Resumed from 23 November. The Chairman of Committees (Hon Matt Benson-Lidholm) in the chair; Hon 
Michael Mischin (Parliamentary Secretary) in charge of the bill. 

Clause 6: Court may make PBO after sentencing — 

Progress was reported after the clause had been partly considered. 

The PRESIDENT: We are in committee but before we move into committee, I welcome into the President’s 
gallery a former President of the Legislative Council, Hon Clive Griffiths. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I foreshadowed an amendment yesterday and now formally move — 

Page 5, line 27 — To insert after “16 years of age” — 

as at the date of the offence 

I understand from what we were told yesterday that clause 6(4)(c) applies as at the date of sentencing. We have 
heard from this government that it has made a decision that prohibited behaviour orders should not apply to 
people under the age of 16 years. For reasons that the government has been unable to articulate, it has decided 
that 16 years is appropriate. The government reviewed its initial position of 14 years and considered that it is not 
appropriate and has now upped it to 16 years. I am concerned that PBOs will be applied to youths for offences 
that occurred well before they were 16 years of age. Therefore, all that is needed is one offence and another 
relevant offence to have been committed at any time during the previous three years; that is, a total of two 
offences. We are now being told that both those offences can have been committed before the person turned 16, 
despite the fact that the government has assured the opposition and the public that the act will apply only to 
people who are 16 or older. The offences can occur well before the person is 16 and it is sufficient for a person 
to be caught by this act if, on the date of sentencing—something no-one has any control over; it depends on the 
court scheduling of the offence hearing and sentencing date—it happens to be the person’s birthday, or he had a 
birthday the week before. The person will be caught by this piece of legislation. I find it very difficult to 
comprehend the logic in the government’s position on this. We have heard that the government believes that at 
16 years of age a person has the capacity to know right from wrong and can be penalised as an adult. Yet these 
people will be penalised for an offence that occurred before they turned 16. The government’s rhetoric on this is 
bizarre. Is the government saying that a person is competent at 16 years of age and should therefore be treated as 
an adult? In that case, a person should be 16 at the time of committing the offence and not at the time of 
sentencing. Is the government saying, “Yes, we will say 16 just to placate you, but really the reality is that this 
bill will apply to people who have committed offences well before the age of 16. The only limitation, the only 
relevance of age, is at the date of sentencing.” I have real concerns about this because the government has failed 
at every opportunity to articulate why it has settled on 16 years of age instead of 18 years of age, which is in the 
United Nations convention to which Australia is a signatory, and why it has elected to raise the age requirement 
from its initial plan of 14 to 16. I am concerned, because in reality the government has not raised the age 
requirement at all. This bill will catch offences committed at the age of 14; in fact, it could catch offences 
committed as early as 13. Is the government now arguing that a 13-year-old, a 14-year-old and a 15-year-old are 
of an age to be competent to determine between right and wrong, and to be sentenced as adults or have a PBO 
imposed as the government proposes under this legislation? There is a real lack of consistency in the 
government’s position on this issue. If the government had considered this matter and had decided that 16 was 
the appropriate age at which PBOs should be imposed, that age requirement would apply at the time of the 
offence and not at the time of sentencing, which is completely arbitrary and means a PBO is being imposed on a 
person who committed an offence as a 15-year-old, 14-year-old or 13-year-old. 

Exactly what is the government’s position on this bill? From what I understand, the government is very clear that 
PBOs will be imposed only on people who are aged 16 or more. If that is the case, it should apply at the date of 
the relevant offence and not at the date of sentencing. It is for those reasons that I move this amendment. I 
particularly look to members of the National Party, a number of whom have expressed concern about this bill 
applying to youths. I point out the real concerns, because it is not just a matter, as the government has said, of 
this applying at the age of 16; it will apply to offences committed at a much younger age than 16, because the 
legislation will take into consideration offences that occurred at the age of 13, 14 and 15. Are National Party 
members seriously prepared to support a bill that digresses so far from the position that this state has always held 
in terms of the treatment of children and the position that this state holds in terms of the treatment of children 
under the Criminal Code? Is this really where we want to go? 
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We have heard from the parliamentary secretary that a range of other measures already exist that can impose 
similar conditions to those of a PBO, in terms of not associating with other individuals with whom a young 
person may have been in cahoots when committing these offences or antisocial behaviours, and not going to 
places where the antisocial behaviour was committed. We already have the capacity to impose those conditions 
on youths. Why do we need this new form of PBO, which the rhetoric says seeks to impose restrictions on 
people who are 16 and older, but which in reality will impact on children as young as 13? I think that there is a 
real problem with the government’s logic. At every opportunity, when asked to explain why it has settled on the 
age of 16 rather than 15 or 17, the government has failed to articulate any reason. Therefore, I again provide the 
parliamentary secretary with an opportunity to articulate the government’s reasoning and the grounds on which 
the government has formed its view and why the government thinks it is appropriate that PBOs can be imposed 
on people who are 16 at the age of sentencing rather than 16 at the time of committing the relevant offence.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am not surprised that the honourable member is so astounded and shocked by 
this; it shows a deep misunderstanding of the criminal justice system and of the bill. It may come as a shock to 
her that the criminal justice system does say that children as young as 13 know the difference between right and 
wrong. In fact, if it will help her, section 29 of the Criminal Code states that anyone under the age of 10 is 
deemed not to be criminally responsible, but that people under the age of 14 are not deemed to be criminally 
responsible unless it is proved that they knew or had the capacity to know the difference between right and 
wrong. Therefore, the shock and horror expressed that acts committed prior to the age of 16 are being taken into 
account is really a demonstration of a lack of understanding.  

Hon Adele Farina: The government has said that it is going to apply to people 16 years and over.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: That highlights the lack of understanding. The two offences are needed — 

Hon Adele Farina: No. The deception that this government has engaged in the selling of this bill — 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Do you want to hear the answer? 

The CHAIRMAN: Order, members! We are at clause 6. There are a number of other clauses in front of us. I do 
not intend listening to members talking over the top of other members. The parliamentary secretary has the call. 
Every member is entitled to the call, obviously. If you wish to have the call, please stand at the opportune time. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The bill says only that a prohibited behaviour order must not be imposed on 
anyone under the age of 16. It requires, as a precondition, the commission of at least two offences within a three-
year time limit before that age. An offence is not committed unless the person is deemed to be criminally 
responsible. It may come as a shock to the honourable member, but there are a lot of children under the age of 16 
who have criminal records because they are deemed to be criminally responsible. There is no great departure in 
principle involved here. All that is happening is that the PBOs cannot be imposed on anyone under the age of 16. 
Of course, the court will take into account offences that have occurred before; that is the whole point of it. It may 
also come as a shock to her to realise that orders, such as intensive youth supervision orders and other 
community orders, and even detention, can be imposed on children under the age of 16. There is therefore no 
question about how this is an enormous departure in principle in holding people responsible for their actions 
when they are under the age of 16. We have chosen 16 because it seems a reasonable age to start off with, for 
reasons that I have repeatedly articulated. 

Hon Adele Farina: Actually, you have not articulated any reasons. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The honourable member plainly does not want to listen to them or understand 
them, and there are only so many times that I can repeat them. 

Hon Adele Farina: You haven’t actually said them once yet. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: We have had that argument in any case. There have already been two amendments 
that have been dealing with the age issue, and those have been defeated. What is being moved here is a 
misconceived amendment, because if these words were to be inserted, then it would make a nonsense of those 
provisions and, in fact, it would be unworkable. For a start, the honourable member does not articulate in the 
amendment what she is talking about. Is she talking about the date of sentence — 

Hon Adele Farina: Nor do you in your bill. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: With respect, if the honourable member looks at the clause, the word “offence” 
does not appear in subclause (4). 

Hon Adele Farina: No, but it appears in the subsequent subclauses. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Which offence is the member talking about? 
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Hon Adele Farina: We will get to that issue a bit later. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: We cannot, because what the member is going to say is that clause 6(4) is going to 
say that the court must not make the PBO against a person unless the person has reached the age of 16 years at 
the date of the offence. What offence is not made clear—whether it is the first offence that the court is looking 
at, as a precondition for making the PBO; the last offence; or any of the offences in between; or is it talking 
about the occasion on which the court has just sentenced the juvenile, which would of course be the date of 
conviction or the date of sentencing. This is a classic example of an amendment being made on the run without 
sufficient thought being put into how it fits with the remaining provisions of the bill. For that reason alone the 
government cannot support it. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I am always prepared to be guided in these matters. I note that at clause 8 the words 
“relevant offence” are used, so I would like to amend my amendment. I move — 

That the amendment be amended by inserting after the words “of the” — 

relevant 

The CHAIRMAN: Order, members. We are dealing with clause 6, to which Hon Adele Farina initially moved, 
on page 5, line 27, to insert after “age”, “as at the date of the offence”. Do I understand, honourable member, that 
you have now moved to amend that particular amendment with the word “relevant” after “of the”, so that 
amendment now reads “as at the date of the relevant offence”? Is that correct? 

Hon ADELE FARINA: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is the question before us, members. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: What is the question: the amendments to the amendment or have you incorporated the 
second amendment within the first amendment? 

The CHAIRMAN: You have moved an amendment to the amendment, which is to add the word “relevant” to 
the first amendment, so as the new amendment now reads “as at the date of the relevant offence”. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: Would it not be easier to incorporate the word “relevant” in the first amendment? 

The CHAIRMAN: All right. I will make that the substantive motion that if you are in agreement with that. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: Yes, I am. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am pleased that has been done, because that makes it even worse. 

Hon Adele Farina: I know, but that is all you use in clause 8. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Which relevant offence is the member talking about? 

Hon Adele Farina: Exactly; that is what we do not know about clause 8 either, but we will get to clause 8. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: This is a problem that has arisen because of the member’s amendment, so I cannot 
say anything further on that. She can tell me which relevant offence she is talking about, for the purposes of her 
amendment, that makes this work. I would be keen to hear it. 

Hon Adele Farina: It will be interesting to see how it works for clause 8. 

Hon KATE DOUST: I understand where Hon Adele Farina is coming from on this, because if anyone was to 
open this bill and look at subclause (4)(c), where it reads “the person has reached 16 years of age”, on the 
discussion about when that kicks in, whether it is the date of the sentence of the date of the offence, how would 
someone know? There is no narrative in here, or no words, that actually clarifies at what point, at what time or in 
what situation the age factor kicks in. Hon Adele Farina is simply trying to provide that clarification, so that 
people understand that this clause will apply to a person who has reached 16 years of age as at the date of the 
relevant offence. Anyone who opens this bill would know what it actually means, because as it reads now, it is 
“has reached 16 years of age” and — 

Hon Michael Mischin: And what? 

Hon KATE DOUST: And what? Is it 16 years of age when the person committed the offence, appeared in court 
or when sentenced?  

Hon Michael Mischin: I explained this yesterday. 

Hon KATE DOUST: Yes, but it is not in here; there is nothing in here. People will open this legislation and 
read this; they will not go back to Hansard necessarily and read the parliamentary secretary’s comments. The 
government needs to be clearer on the way the age factor kicks in. 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The legislation is clear. If the member bothered to read it, it says that — 

Several members interjected. 

The CHAIRMAN: Order!  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is not hard. 

Hon Kate Doust: No, it is not hard, but maybe it is going to take us a little bit longer to understand it. Maybe 
that is what we need to do, and we will just take our time until you make sure we understand it clearly. Is that 
what you want? 

The CHAIRMAN: Order, members! Parliamentary secretary. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Thank you, Mr Chairman. Plainly some help is needed. Clause 6(2) states that “a 
court that has sentenced a person”—if we look back, a natural person—for an offence, whether it be a relevant 
offence or not, and a lawyer will be able to tell that because a lawyer would look at the definition section. It does 
not have to be sentencing for a relevant offence, but an offence—“may, after imposing the sentence”, which 
would be the sentence for the offence that the court is sentencing him for and just convicted him for, “make a 
PBO against the person”; “may” meaning a discretion. That discretion can be triggered by either the prosecutor 
making application or by the court using its own initiative. Any problems so far? Good.  

Subclause (4) then reads, “A court must not make a PBO”—although it can—“against a person unless” those 
conditions are present. One of them is that the person has reached the age of 16 years; in other words, that the 
person before the court, and where there is an application to make a PBO or the court decides a PBO may be 
appropriate, then must be 16 years of age. That is clear; there is no further statutory requirement to say anything 
about it. 

Hon Adele Farina: The person could be 15 or even 14 at the time of the offence. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Indeed, but that is not likely to happen because generally people do not come 
before a Children’s Court two years after they have committed an offence. Using the word “relevant” means that 
we have to look back at the definition section. So what we have is a situation where the court is dealing with 
someone for an offence and says, “Okay, I will turn my mind to the question of whether a PBO is necessary or 
required”, but it then has to look back at whether a relevant offence somewhere in the past has been committed 
while the person is 16 years of age. So the section does not work in the way that the member is proposing to 
frame it. It is logically inconsistent with the other provisions in clause 6 and the operation of the scheme. The 
member says that there has been a great departure from principle, but there has not. It is always the case when 
children will change age at one point or another between having committed an offence and being sentenced by a 
court. There is nothing remarkable about that. But the law requires that when the court is actually sentencing 
someone, it must sentence him for an appropriate disposition to his age at the time when he committed the 
offence. Here we are not sentencing anyone for anything, which is what part of the member’s argument in 
support of the amendment was about. No sentence is imposed by a prohibited behaviour order; it is something 
over and above a sentence, and something additional to the dispositions that can otherwise be ordered. The 
Prohibited Behaviour Orders Bill 2010 contains provisions that state there cannot be inconsistencies. That is all 
that is happening. The amendment is misconceived, and it is now plain that that is because of a misunderstanding 
of the way the act operates and how it links in with the criminal justice system as we all know it—well, most of 
us know it. 

The CHAIRMAN: Before Hon Adele Farina takes the call, to clarify things for the house: Hon Adele Farina has 
moved — 

Page 5, line 27 — To insert after “age” —  

as at the date of the offence 

Subsequent to that, the member moved that the word “relevant” be added to that amendment. The question now 
is that the word “relevant” be added to that amendment, before the word “offence”. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: So have we separated them out again, Mr Chairman? 

The CHAIRMAN: That was my original intention; I certainly am going to stick by this particular one, just for 
the purposes of correctness.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: That is fine. I am going to help to confuse matters even further—I am sorry.  

The CHAIRMAN: That is fine; go for it.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: Clause 6(2) states — 
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Subject to subsection (4) and section 17, a court that has sentenced a person for an offence may, after 
imposing the sentence, make a PBO against the person. 

Clause 6(4) states “A court must not make a PBO against a person unless”, and then sets out a number of factors. 
I would have thought that my original amendment would have been clear as to which offence it related to 
because clause 6(2) is subject to clause 6(4); however, if my first and second amendments did not make it clear 
for the parliamentary secretary, I am happy to move now a third amendment. 

Hon Michael Mischin: This is getting better all the time! 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I intend to move — 

Page 5, line 27 — To insert after “16 years of age” —  

as at the date of the offence specified in subsection (2) 

Is that clear now? 

Hon Michael Mischin: Do you want to have another go before we settle on that? 

The CHAIRMAN: Order, members! In relation to Hon Adele Farina’s request to move a further amendment, 
before she does that she needs to seek leave to remove the previous amendment—that is, the word “relevant”. 
Does the member seek leave to have that word removed?  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I do indeed, Mr Chairman.  

Amendment on the amendment, by leave, withdrawn. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I move — 

That the amendment be amended by inserting after “offence”— 

specified in subsection (2) 

Hon ALISON XAMON: The Greens (WA) are supportive of the intent of Hon Adele Farina’s amendment, 
whichever amendment it is that we are considering. I express some disappointment that this amendment is even 
necessary, because if the amendments that sought to entirely remove children from the Prohibited Behaviour 
Orders Bill 2010 had been successful, then this amendment would not have been needed. The Greens are very, 
very sympathetic to the suggestion that first or second offences committed by children under the age of 
16 should not be subject to a prohibited behaviour order because of how court hearing dates are determined. This 
bill is a dramatic departure from the principle of the Young Offenders Act 1994 and the provisions around the 
identification of juveniles, so it is very important that we subject this bill to the highest level of scrutiny. We 
need to remember that we are talking again about offences committed by children under the age of 16, and 
therefore it is all the more important that the government be consistent about what it is saying. I note that in 
terms of the public rhetoric around the promotion of this bill, the government has been keen to attempt to 
assuage people’s concerns about children being named and shamed on the basis that 16 and 17-year-olds will be 
the only ones who will be likely to be subject to this, bearing in mind of course that 16 and 17-year-olds are still 
children. It seems very strange that the government is not even prepared to consider the intent of this 
amendment. I would have thought that the lack of such an amendment was more reflective of sloppy drafting 
than anything else, so it is very concerning to now hear that it was, in actual fact, intended all along that children 
under 16 years of age were to be captured by this legislation. It is very concerning to hear that not only has there 
been a dramatic departure from principle in relation to the inclusion of the public naming and shaming of 16 and 
17-year-olds, but also, apparently, that will apply to offences committed by younger children, even if there have 
been only two offences committed before reaching the age of 16. I am very concerned about that, and the Greens 
will be supporting the intent of the amendment, even if we have not yet figured out exactly which amendment 
we are supporting, because we are in Committee of the Whole and we need to clarify that. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I would just like to seek some clarification on one point from the parliamentary 
secretary. I have listened very carefully to his explanation about why the government believes that the three-year 
provision is required. Is there any sort of judicial discretion around taking previous or relevant offences into 
account when issuing a prohibited behaviour order? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There is, but that is best discussed in the context of clause 8, which is where the 
three-year limitation actually appears. That really has nothing to do with what is proposed in this clause.  

Amendment on the amendment put and a division taken, the Chairman (Hon Matt Benson-Lidholm) casting his 
vote with the ayes, with the following result — 
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Ayes (15) 

Hon Matt Benson-Lidholm Hon Sue Ellery Hon Lynn MacLaren Hon Ken Travers 
Hon Helen Bullock Hon Adele Farina Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Alison Xamon 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Jon Ford Hon Linda Savage Hon Ed Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon Col Holt Hon Sally Talbot  

Noes (18) 

Hon Liz Behjat Hon Phil Edman Hon Alyssa Hayden Hon Simon O’Brien 
Hon Jim Chown Hon Brian Ellis Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Max Trenorden 
Hon Peter Collier Hon Philip Gardiner Hon Michael Mischin Hon Ken Baston (Teller) 
Hon Mia Davies Hon Nick Goiran Hon Norman Moore  
Hon Wendy Duncan Hon Nigel Hallett Hon Helen Morton  

            

Pair 

 Hon Giz Watson Hon Donna Faragher 

Amendment on the amendment thus negatived. 

Amendment put and negatived. 

Hon ALISON XAMON: I move — 

Page 6, after line 7 — To insert — 

(5) Prohibited Behaviour Orders cannot be made in the Children’s Court. 

The purpose of this amendment is to ensure that juvenile offenders are not caught up in these provisions and are 
not subject to having minor offences displayed on a website—hence not having mistakes made as juveniles 
follow them for the rest of their lives.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: If the Greens’ concern is the publication aspect of the bill — 

Hon Alison Xamon: Yes. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: — that is more appropriately addressed when we deal with clause 34, which deals 
with publication details. This clause would prevent any person under the age of 18 years being the subject of a 
prohibited behaviour order, which is an odd position because, as has been argued, anyone under the age of 
18 years at the moment can be the subject of a variety of court orders that restrict behaviour. This is something 
that is simply an attempt to take a broader approach to avoid behaviour and situations that may encourage crime. 
As the Greens (WA) would often argue, it is another attempt to address the causes of crime, but they seem to be 
opposed to that. The government will oppose the proposed amendment.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I think the parliamentary secretary, by way of response, hoped to capture what he 
thought the Greens intended by the proposed amendment. I do not know that that kind of approach is necessarily 
the most constructive. It is perfectly clear what the Greens (WA) intend by the amendment. The parliamentary 
secretary has just put his finger on the problem: the problem is we are arguing against this kind of broad cookie-
cutter approach to juvenile justice. I ask the parliamentary secretary, in an attempt to move this debate on, as I 
know we are all hanging out to get to clause 8 — 

Hon Adele Farina: Or even clause 7.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: — or even clause 7, but nevertheless I think — 

Hon Simon O’Brien: I want to get to the title of the bill! I’m looking forward to that.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: We will get there, Hon Simon O’Brien. I for one am looking forward to his 
contribution.  

In relation to clause 6, what we are precisely objecting to is this broad approach that the parliamentary secretary 
seems to think is a good thing. I want to ask a couple of questions about this in support of the amendment moved 
by Hon Alison Xamon. I want to ask first of all: is not the whole point of something like an intensive supervision 
order that it is a tailor-made provision for a particular individual? I would say almost by definition that we could 
not have a cookie-cutter template for an intensive supervision order. Would the parliamentary secretary care to 
address any of the remaining suite of measures that are available under existing legislation? Why are those 
measures not adequate to deal with children who have committed the types of offences the parliamentary 
secretary discussed and find themselves caught up in the juvenile justice system? Why are they not adequate? 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL - Wednesday, 24 November 2010] 

 p9393c-9407a 
President; Hon Adele Farina; Hon Michael Mischin; Chairman; Hon Kate Doust; Hon Alison Xamon; Hon Dr 

Sally Talbot; Hon Linda Savage 

 [7] 

Why is this broad-brush approach needed? I have yet to hear anything that persuades me that this view is 
anything more than rhetorical flourish.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot help it if that is the view the opposition has taken. That view was 
expressed even before the committee stage and is based on a plain misunderstanding of the legislation and its 
operation. On a previous occasion I exhaustively went through all the other dispositions that were available and 
explained their limitations. I cannot do better than suggest that the member read Hansard. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is the member going to quote from the uncorrected Hansard? 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: No, I was not going to quote from it. Let me rephrase the question. Given that we are 
talking about patterns of behaviour, how can the parliamentary secretary justify the Children’s Court looking at a 
pattern of behaviour in the year before a child turned 14 years old? The parliamentary secretary has admitted that 
a pattern of behaviour may have been established by that time. He referred to the Criminal Code and said that 
criminal culpability began at the age of 10. The parliamentary secretary also said that criminal culpability would 
apply for children under the age of 14 unless the child could be shown to be sufficiently mature to have a sense 
of right and wrong. The Children’s Court will be hearing arguments that are supposed to establish a pattern of 
behaviour. Surely it makes sense to suggest to the parliamentary secretary that although it might be coherent to 
talk about the pattern of behaviour of a 40 or 50-year-old, the pattern of behaviour for a 16-year-old is an entirely 
different matter and is subject to such dispute and uncertainty that it is not an appropriate concept to be 
addressing in the Children’s Court. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Sorry, was that a question? 

Hon Sally Talbot: Yes. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: What was the question? I took it that the member was expressing an opinion that a 
pattern of behaviour could be determined for an adult but not for someone under the age of 16. If that is the case 
and that is what the honourable member believes, she ought to attend the Children’s Court more often because 
that is exactly what does happen. The member should see what happens in those places. Some children commit a 
raft of offences for a variety of reasons and we can pick up patterns of behaviour for the sorts of situations that 
get them into trouble. 

Hon Adele Farina: From two offences committed three years apart, potentially. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I have been through all that. 

Several members interjected. 

The CHAIRMAN: Order members! There are many clauses remaining. If members wish to seek the call, they 
most certainly can and they will receive the call and I will not interrupt them. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Patterns of behaviour can be picked up in juvenile offending as well. It happens 
all the time. Pre-sentence reports will provide indications of the sorts of situations that get children into trouble. 
They can include the groups the offenders hang around with and the places they go to commit offences and the 
like. Apart from being commonsense, that is available all the time. The Children’s Court deals with offenders 
from 13 years old and even younger, up to 18 years old. Even in the relevant period we are looking at here—
before the age of 16—some children have committed myriad offences. I gave an illustration of one such offender 
in my second reading reply. A hardcore group of about 10 juveniles have committed 151 offences between them 
and have been sentenced to a variety of depositions, none of which has deterred them from committing further 
criminal activity. We can pick up certain patterns of behaviour that may cause them to commit criminal offences. 
This bill says that if someone has committed at least two of those types of antisocial offences within a three-year 
period, that is a sufficient condition to make the person subject to consideration of a prohibited behaviour order, 
but it is not the only condition. Clause 8 deals with the other requirements. No court can sensibly pick up any 
pattern of behaviour after two offences; that will not happen. A court is unlikely to impose a series of serious 
sanctions for a juvenile for graffiti offences, for example, unless the court can discern a pattern of offending that 
requires a greater sanction. Sentences of imprisonment and detention are always the sentences of last resort. We 
are looking at a pattern of offending for which the court believes it is appropriate to subject the offender to an 
order that might go beyond what an intensive supervision order or another non-custodial order may provide. That 
will address the causes of the offender’s criminality and criminal conduct. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: The parliamentary secretary said that a sentencing judicial authority in the Children’s 
Court who is looking at offences will take previous offences or patterns of behaviour into account in the pre-
sentencing report. Given that a PBO is not a sentence for an offence, what is the equivalent to a pre-sentencing 
report for a PBO? 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Again, this matter is more properly addressed by clauses 8 and subsequent 
clauses. However, I will answer it in the vain hope that it will not give rise to the same questions being asked 
when we get to those clauses. Under clause 8, the grounds for a PBO include not only a conviction for relevant 
offences, but also that the court must be satisfied to the requisite standard of proof. Clause 8(2) states — 

Grounds for making a PBO exist if — 

(b) unless constrained from certain otherwise lawful activities and behaviour, the person 
is likely to commit another relevant offence; and 

(c) granting a PBO to impose the constraints is appropriate in the circumstances. 

The court is obliged to be satisfied to the requisite standard that certain otherwise lawful behaviour may give rise 
to the likelihood that a person will commit another relevant offence. That is not necessarily the offence the court 
is dealing with but another relevant offence within the meaning of the bill. Clause 9 outlines the sorts of things 
that the court can consider, which include not only the current legal proceedings, but also the person’s criminal 
record; any sentences or orders made in the past; past behaviour of the person that is similar to the behaviour 
subject to the PBO that the court is considering; the extent to which there has been compliance; and, any other 
matters that the court considers relevant. Clause 26 under “Division 4—PBO proceedings”, concerns the 
evidence that can be taken into account. The court would consider all that. I presume that if there were any pre-
sentence reports for any of the offences committed, the court would have access to those and would consider 
them as part of its decision on whether the constraints suggested by a PBO ought to be imposed. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Is it possible for the parliamentary secretary to confirm that the person issuing the PBO 
would have access to the pre-sentencing reports relating to the relevant offences? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot personally guarantee it, but I would be surprised if that person would not 
have access to it or that the court would not be prepared to make a PBO if it is doing its job properly. Unless it 
did not have all the relevant material available to it and it made a PBO on insufficient evidence, it is always 
likely to be set aside on appeal. The member is therefore talking about a court that is seized with information that 
the offender at the time had been convicted of an offence, albeit not necessarily a relevant offence within the 
terms of the meaning of the act. An application that is brought must be supported by evidence. If the prosecution 
does not come up with all the relevant material that the court thinks it ought to look at before it makes such a 
decision, the application will not be granted. 

Amendment put and a division taken, the Chairman casting his vote with the ayes, with the following result — 

Ayes (14) 

Hon Matt Benson-Lidholm Hon Sue Ellery Hon Lynn MacLaren Hon Alison Xamon 
Hon Helen Bullock Hon Adele Farina Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Ed Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Jon Ford Hon Sally Talbot  
Hon Kate Doust Hon Col Holt Hon Ken Travers  

Noes (17) 

Hon Liz Behjat Hon Phil Edman Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Max Trenorden 
Hon Jim Chown Hon Brian Ellis Hon Michael Mischin Hon Nigel Hallett (Teller) 
Hon Peter Collier Hon Philip Gardiner Hon Norman Moore  
Hon Mia Davies Hon Nick Goiran Hon Helen Morton  
Hon Wendy Duncan Hon Alyssa Hayden Hon Simon O’Brien  

            

Pairs 

 Hon Linda Savage Hon Ken Baston 
 Hon Giz Watson Hon Donna Faragher 

Amendment thus negatived. 

Hon LINDA SAVAGE: Yesterday during the debate I asked a question about clause 6(3), which states — 

The PBO may be made — 

(a) on the application of the prosecutor under section 5; or 

(b) on the initiative of the court. 

My question then was: in which circumstances is it envisaged that a PBO would be made on the initiative of the 
court? 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Allowing for the making of orders on the initiative of the court is not an unusual 
situation. But one would presume that the court could take the view, because of the material available before it, 
not only that it ought sentence for the particular offence that is before it, but also that a PBO civil order is a 
means to modify or constrain the behaviour of offenders to have them avoid situations that may get them into 
trouble. If the court is of the view that it does not have one of the existing dispositions available to it, such as an 
intensive supervision order or some other community-based order as part of its sentencing armoury or that they 
are not appropriate, it can impose a PBO as well. 

Hon LINDA SAVAGE: Perhaps then the parliamentary secretary could explain to me the other situations in 
which a similar order or an order virtually identical to a prohibited behaviour order would be made by the court 
on its own initiative. I ask that because this is something that is new, particularly for young people. Posting 
someone’s photograph and conditions about their behaviour, to which it is envisaged the public will respond and 
call the police, is not something in my experience—I am not a criminal lawyer—that I am aware of. For 
example, I have never been aware of the Attorney General’s website that I could go to looking for people whom 
I may run into in my shopping centre and about whom I could then contact someone. I am just asking the 
parliamentary secretary to expand on whether something comparable has been done on the initiative of the court. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am sorry, I am not quite sure I understand. Is the member asking about when the 
court has its own discretion to make an order of its own motion? 

Hon Linda Savage: I am asking about something similar on the initiative of the court as per the clause we are 
looking at. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot give the member an exhaustive list. There may be some that are better 
examples than others. Forfeiture orders under section 557C of the Criminal Code allow a court to make orders, 
for example, to do with preparing to commit offences. It states — 

A court that convicts a person of an offence under this Chapter may order that the thing giving rise to 
the offence be forfeited to the State. 

That would frequently be done by the prosecutor making an oral motion that the item concerned be forfeited. 
The court may, of its own motion, forfeit an item. I think that possibly compensation orders or restitution orders 
may be made by the court. They would be done generally, but not necessarily, by the prosecutor moving for such 
an order to be made; a court might order it of its own motion. The making of a variety of non-custodial 
dispositions is something that the court itself decides. The prosecution might have a particular view on 
sentencing. The court can ignore it and make an order of its own motion as to what it thinks is the appropriate 
disposition. 

Hon LINDA SAVAGE: Obviously, we are talking about something that is, as the parliamentary secretary said, 
new in the toolbox to be used for antisocial behaviour. In my experience, as I explained in the example I gave, I 
am not aware of someone’s photo and information about where that person can and cannot be and with whom 
that person can and cannot be put on a government website. That is why, in considering prohibited behaviour 
orders, we would allow it to be done on the initiative of the court. I assume that some particular thought was 
given to that. With respect, the examples that the parliamentary secretary gave did not seem to be comparable 
with these whereby someone’s photograph and the details about that person’s otherwise lawful behaviour will be 
put on a website and the person’s behaviour curtailed. I am wondering what is behind that part of the clause. It 
makes sense to me that it would be done on the application of the prosecutor. The reason I ask about this is that 
obviously there will be lawyers at Legal Aid WA and the Aboriginal Legal Service who will need to understand 
what their clients may face when they either advise them or appear in court. I am aware that lawyers read the 
Hansard transcript to assist them to understand the law or to advise, particularly when laws are new and have not 
been tested. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot provide off the top of my head another analogous provision. However, 
the question of publication is different from the making of a prohibited behaviour order per se. If the issue is 
whether certain details ought to be published, I suggest that that is better addressed in clause 34. 

Hon KATE DOUST: Last night when we commenced our discussion on clause 6, I posed a question to the 
parliamentary secretary about the submission that the Commissioner for Children and Young People had given 
to the Attorney General. I asked whether the parliamentary secretary was able to provide and table a copy of that 
letter. He said last night that he would see whether he was able to do that because he did not have it with him. I 
thought I might remind him and see where he has gotten to with that and whether he is able to provide it. 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I do not have it with me at the moment. I did raise it with my adviser before the 
sitting commenced today. He is seeking a copy of it. I will address that as soon as I see a copy of it. I had not 
forgotten about it; it has not come to hand. 

Hon Adele Farina interjected. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I hope so, yes. As far as I am aware, it will be provided some time today and I will 
be able to look at it to see whether it is suitable to table. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: Clause 6(2) states — 

Subject to subsection (4) and section 17, a court that has sentenced a person for an offence may, after 
imposing the sentence, — 

They are the key words — 

make a PBO against the person. 

I would like an explanation of the interaction between clause 6(2) and clause 6(4)(d)(ii), which reads — 

has personally been given a hearing notice at least 7 days before the PBO proceedings. 

The reason I ask this question is that clause 6(2) seems to suggest that the making of a PBO against the person 
follows the sentencing of the person. It seems to me that at least seven days have to elapse between the two 
events. Have I understood that correctly? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: It is not possible to give a time frame. Clause 6 provides that after the court that 
sentences a person for some offence, and, again, it does not have to be a relevant offence, has imposed the 
sentence, which could be a custodial sentence, a fine or some community-based order—I invite the member to 
forget for a moment about juveniles and consider that it could be adults as well—the court that imposed the 
sentence for that offence may impose a prohibited behaviour order against the person. It may be that the 
prosecution has, in the light of its preparation for dealing with that offender, had access to the criminal history of 
that offender, the antecedents, the pre-sentence report prepared on the offender and a variety of other information 
and has determined that this is a suitable candidate, as far as the prosecution is concerned, for obtaining such an 
order in addition to any other sentence that may be imposed. It may be something that emerges from the 
sentencing hearing concerning that offender. For example, if defence counsel says, “The problem is that he’s 
really a good chap at heart, but, unfortunately, he hangs around with the wrong crowd and, interestingly, his 
record shows that all his offending behaviour seems to be targeted around hanging around a particular suburb or 
particular circumstances”, that might excite the attention of the court or the prosecution and give them thought as 
to whether there is something which cannot be addressed necessarily by the sort of sentencing dispositions 
available to a court but which a prohibited behaviour order might be able to usefully address. Of course, there 
would be the question of getting together an application and getting together the evidence to support it. The 
matters set out in clause 6(4)(a) and (b), apart from the threshold age—that is, it will have to be imposed on 
someone at least 16 years of age or older—will need to be addressed. That evidence needs to be presented so that 
the court can be persuaded to the requisite standard, or the court, because it has its own initiative to do it, if it 
thinks that it can assist in constraining the person and steering him away from opportunities that lead him into 
strife, might decide to adjourn proceedings pending a PBO being argued and proceedings being commenced for 
it, act on its own account and obtain the necessary evidence to see whether the person was suitable and fulfilled 
the criteria at clause 8. As for the time of that, I really could not say. But if the member is worried about things, 
such as it being six months after the conviction for the offence and the like, that would be one of the 
circumstances that a court would take into account in deciding whether a PBO was suitable to be made at that 
time. It would take into account what had happened in the intervening six months. The same thing happens when 
an offender is returned to a court for sentencing for breach of a suspended sentence or some other non-custodial 
disposition. The court would have regard to what the person’s conduct had been in the intervening period and 
which disposition is most appropriate in the circumstances. The difference with those sorts of orders, though, is 
that the court can only then sentence the person for the original offence for which those orders were made. With 
a PBO that is not the case. The court can look a person’s behaviour and what it is dealing with is, I suppose, 
analogous to a contempt of court or breach of a court order generally. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I thank the parliamentary secretary for that explanation. I assume that the maximum 
period of time would be a factor solely of the three-year period, so that in that hypothetical situation that the 
parliamentary secretary alluded to where the PBO application was made six months after the sentencing for the 
second relevant offence, if the first relevant offence had dropped off the three-year scale by then, it would be too 
late to impose the PBO. 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, the threshold for imposing a PBO would not be there, but it is not envisaged, 
as I have said before, that the two offences within a three-year period are themselves a sufficient condition. They 
are a necessary precondition to get away from the question of simply antisocial behaviour, but they are not a 
sufficient precondition. If we are looking at one three years ago and another one now, if any prosecutor said to a 
court, “Hey, there is a pattern of behaviour here of an antisocial nature, because we have got one relevant 
offence here and we have got one relevant offence three years ago”, a court is going to give that prosecutor 
pretty short shrift. It would just not happen. What we would be looking at is at least those two things. The 
offence, of course, that needs to be committed before a court can consider a PBO does not have to be a relevant 
offence; it is simply an occasion for considering whether a PBO order be made. There would be that and an 
assessment of whether, over that period of time or some period of time, it is appropriate to put certain constraints 
on the offender. I do not think I can go any further than that. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I would not expect the parliamentary secretary to go further than that. I understand. I 
am actually more concerned about the other end of the time scale, because, as I said in my introductory remarks 
to this query, clause 6(2) does read it as if we have got, as it were, one process going on, that process being the 
sentencing and imposition of a PBO. I assume that simply cannot happen, because while, I suppose, a reference 
could be made to the desirability of issuing a PBO or the suitability of a person to be subject to a PBO during the 
sentencing process, clause 6(4)(d)(ii) states that a hearing notice has to be provided at least seven days before the 
PBO proceedings. I just need confirmation that I have understood that correctly, and that it is not one thing that 
is happening. Could a PBO hearing notice, which is referred to in clause 6(4)(d)(ii), be served before the 
sentence? Surely not. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The starting place would be clause 6, but the procedure is also covered in clause 7 
of the bill. Let us say that a magistrate has before him or her an offender. It does not have to be for a relevant 
offence within the meaning of the bill, but an offender. The application may be made by the court. We will leave 
aside that circumstance just a moment, although I am happy to address it. The prosecution may say to the court, 
“Having regard to the record, antecedents, a variety of other factors and what we have heard in mitigation, and 
the circumstances of the offence and what other relevant material there is, and having regard to the order that 
you have imposed in respect of this offence”—it might be an ISO or something of that nature, or a fine—“a 
prohibited behaviour order is an appropriate civil order that may be made in order to constrain the offender’s 
behaviour in a certain way to avoid him falling into trouble in the future.” The court might think that it has 
adequate information at the time to deal with it. More likely than not, it will adjourn proceedings in order to give 
the offender the opportunity to be heard on the matter and to put up material as well. The provision that the 
member is looking at, clause 6(4)(d), has two requirements. They are either that the PBO is made and the person 
has an opportunity to be heard on the question of whether the court should make it, but the person is present 
when it is made, or that the person has been given a hearing notice at least seven days before. 

It may well be that it is only after the sentencing process is complete and the offender has gone on his or her 
way, that the prosecution considers a PBO is appropriate. It may be that the prosecution thinks that the offender 
is a likely candidate and therefore foreshadows that it will consider bringing such an application; the offender 
goes on his or her way and an application is subsequently brought with the evidence compiled and ready for the 
court. The offender would not necessarily be in court for the making of the order unless he or she had received 
notice of the proceeding, which is provided for by the seven days’ notice requirement. If the offender is trying to 
avoid coming to court, an order can nevertheless be made; that situation is not unusual. At the very least the 
offender would be given seven days’ notice of the proceedings and, accordingly, given the opportunity to be 
heard.  

The other procedural requirements are contained in clause 7. Although it is entirely possible that an application 
for a PBO may be made, or at least raised, before the sentencing date, or heard and determined on the sentencing 
date, in accordance with the possibilities here, there is also the prospect of a PBO application being made 
subsequent to the sentencing date.  

There are a variety of courts in the system, so the bill identifies the court that should deal with the PBO 
application in clause 6(2) as the same court that is sentencing the offender. If a person is brought before the 
Magistrates Court for some offence and an application for a PBO is brought, the application is heard by the 
Magistrates Court and not by the District Court or the Supreme Court or whatever. Although the bias would be 
towards the same judicial officer dealing with the application, because they have already been informed of the 
offender’s circumstances, clause 7(4) allows for the adjourned hearing to be heard by another judicial officer in 
the same level of court. That provision is a necessity, because sometimes a magistrate might be unavailable, 
incapacitated, retired or resigned, or unavailable as a result of listing issues that cannot be overcome.  

I hope that addresses what the member is after.  
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Hon SALLY TALBOT: That has broken it down into two categories. The first category covers the issuing of a 
PBO as part of the same court hearing as when the sentence is imposed. I think the parliamentary secretary’s 
words were something like, “the court may think it has sufficient information”. I might have paraphrased that.  

Hon Michael Mischin: The court may be satisfied on what it has.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: The court may be satisfied that it has enough information to make the decision to 
impose the PBO at the time of sentencing and the person who will be the subject of the PBO is in attendance. 
The act, and certainly the explanatory memorandum, says that an offender must be given the opportunity to be 
heard on whether the court should make the PBO. What opportunities are given to the offender to be heard on 
that? I suppose that people can seek to have that part of the court process adjourned and then come back to court 
to be heard on that matter. Can the parliamentary secretary explain how that is envisaged to work? 

I will give you a bit more information about my query. Given that the PBO might prohibit meeting with certain 
people and might make certain geographical areas off limits, and those places might include schools or training 
places, workplaces and shops—I am thinking of things like taking children to school—there may be enormous 
implications associated with this that perhaps a person is not in a position to argue at the time of sentencing. 
When I originally went through the legislation I was under the impression—I now think it was a mistaken 
impression—that people would always be given notice that a prosecutor or somebody was going to apply for a 
PBO and therefore be given the chance to put information together. It is not clear to me now that a provision on 
time for consideration is built into the act.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The member must appreciate that, like all schemes, a skeleton scheme is set up. 
There are certain minimum requirements as to what is necessary, which is the same as other legislative programs 
such as the dangerous sexual offender legislation, restraining orders and the like. A court is able to make its own 
rules of court to accommodate particular circumstances if it feels it is necessary to do so to regulate the 
proceedings before it. Courts have an inherent jurisdiction to be able to do so anyway. Therefore, there is no 
specific need to address many of the issues like this. If we look at clause 7(1), we see that the court is 
empowered to — 

(a) proceed to hear the question after passing the related sentence; or 

(b) adjourn the question to a hearing. 

As a matter of course, courts have always been obliged to accord natural justice and give people the opportunity 
to be heard. There would be a procedural defect if a court were to go ahead and simply impose a prohibited 
behaviour order without giving the person subject to that order an opportunity to put his or her case. I am 
comfortable that if that were to happen, it would be set aside on appeal. That would be a very rare circumstance 
because courts are used to putting off matters in order to respect the right to be heard and give people the 
opportunity to state their case. It is not specifically provided for in the legislation because, I would suggest, it 
does not have to be because it is a matter of normal court process. There would be some disclosure of the 
information that the prosecution would be relying on to persuade the court to make a PBO order. Likewise, if the 
court happened to have that information, it would be disclosed to both relevant parties—not only the prosecution 
but also the offender’s counsel. If time is required to absorb the information and to address some of the matters 
that arise out of it, that would be provided as a matter of course. Hon Sally Talbot’s concerns are unfounded. It is 
the sort of situation that courts are dealing with all the time. Likewise with sentencing, there may be several 
adjournments of a sentencing process in order to allow the prosecution to obtain material that may be relevant, 
allow the court to obtain material if the court feels its information is deficient in some way, or allow a person 
who is before the court for sentencing to address issues and obtain evidence that will be in support of the 
offender’s case and in mitigation of any sentence that may be imposed. As I say, there is a skeleton. There are 
certainly requirements, but they are requirements with which the judicial system is familiar. If any more 
specificity and refinement is required, the courts are able to make their own rules and regulations.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I suppose the problem is that all the comparators that the parliamentary secretary is 
using seem to me, and I think it is probably fair to say to others on this side of the house, to overlook the 
substantive difference between some kind of sentence that relates to the crime for which the person has been 
convicted and the imposition of a prohibited behaviour order. What will be prohibited will be something that will 
be not only not connected to the offence, but also a legal activity. For example, the parliamentary secretary 
referred to the sentencing of a sex offender, whereby part of the sentence—I think I understood this correctly—
might be a provision that the person has to do or not do certain things to prevent the person from reoffending. 

Hon Michael Mischin: My reference to the Dangerous Sexual Offenders Act 1996 is not to the sentencing of an 
offender; that, too, is a release on licence, or a continued period in custody beyond sentence, with conditions 
imposed on the offender with a view to preventing him from committing other offences and to give some 
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security to the community. That is another example—albeit in a very much more extreme way—of what is 
proposed by way of this legislation. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: But, again, those provisions would directly relate to preventing a repetition of the 
offence of which the person has been convicted.  

HON MICHAEL MISCHIN: Of sexual offences generally, yes, to protect the community. I do not want to take 
the analogy too far, but the Dangerous Sexual Offenders Act has, broadly speaking, a similar scheme in that it 
deals with someone who has been convicted and sentenced for an offence, is now coming to the end of his term, 
is eligible to be released and may pose a danger to the community. What happens is that the prosecution brings 
an application, and a limited number of things are necessary for the application—the prosecution usually goes 
further and provides a mountain of material on it—as to the offender’s conduct in the past, including the various 
offences he has committed. It can be discerned from that whether there are patterns of behaviour such as, for 
example, indulgence in alcohol or drugs or a penchant for victims of a certain gender or age in certain 
circumstances, and an application is brought on the grounds that this person should not be released because he 
continues to be a hazard—even though he has served his time to the community and paid his debt, as it were—
and he is too dangerous to be released because of past conduct; or, if the person is to be released, he ought to be 
subject to a lot of constraints around what might otherwise be lawful behaviour. There is nothing unusual about 
that, and this bills seeks a similar thing but in a far more benign way. We are looking at preventing access to 
certain geographical areas and/or the prevention of certain groups hanging around with certain groups of people 
and associating with certain elements of society, and/or possession of certain articles. It may be that there may be 
restrictions on alcohol consumption and the like, which is otherwise lawful behaviour. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I appreciate what the parliamentary secretary is saying about not, perhaps, wanting to 
extend the analogy too far, but it still seems to me that in the example he described he was talking about a 
prohibition on behaviour or activities or on consorting with certain people so as not to reoffend or recommit the 
offence for which the person has already been sentenced. But in the case of a PBO, that is not the case, is it? I 
understand that the analogy holds as far as prohibiting behaviour that might not be illegal. I am still talking 
specifically about a PBO issued immediately following sentencing, and I am still concerned about a situation, of 
which there is a United Kingdom example, whereby a magistrate might say, “Your behaviour is such that we 
think that a PBO that prohibits from you going to this area of the town or this shopping centre is an appropriate 
thing.” The person might agree to that, but it might later transpire that the person’s general practitioner is located 
in that place, and if the person makes an appointment with the GP and goes along, he will have breached the 
PBO, which is a criminal offence. I think the analogy has well and truly broken down by the time we get to that 
stage. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I remind the member that what we are looking at is constraining someone from 
committing a particular offence, and, again, a different clause—clause 8(2)(b)—states — 

unless constrained from certain otherwise lawful activities and behaviour, the person is likely to commit 
another relevant offence 

“Relevant offence” is defined as an offence involving antisocial behaviour.  

Furthermore, if it is a matter of geographical access, a respondent to an application can very well inform the 
court at the time the order is being made and the conditions to be imposed are being discussed and debated. 
Again, there is nothing remarkable in that; it happens with the imposition of any other non-custodial sentence or 
order in the case of sentencing for an offence, and conditions are determined. It is a factor also in any order for 
bail, and people may have their liberty restricted and be prohibited from going to certain places. In any event, the 
conditions imposed must be crafted as being appropriate to the objectives stated in clause 10; clause 36 contains 
a defence to cover the problems that the member has foreseen. 

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I have a transition question. I noticed that in the parliamentary secretary’s original 
response to my questions about this part of clause 6 he talked about the sentence being imposed, so he was 
talking about clause 6(2), which states —  

… a court that has sentenced a person for an offence may, after imposing the sentence, make a PBO 
against the person. 

And the parliamentary secretary referred to a custodial sentence. Could somebody who is subject to a custodial 
sentence be also made the subject of a PBO?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am not sure that I did mention a custodial sentence. 

Hon Sally Talbot: I think it was just in passing that you said custodial or non-custodial sentence.  
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: All right. Yes; it is possible for people to be the subject of a PBO. Of course, 
while they are in custody it will not have any effect on them, but after they are released from custody they will 
be constrained under the PBO. But there are requirements also that a PBO must not conflict with a variety of 
other orders which may have been imposed or to which people are subject at a relevant time; those are detailed 
in clause 10(7).  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I can absolutely see that some prohibition, for instance, about going to the shopping 
centre could not be effective concurrently with a custodial sentence, but what about the prohibition on making 
contact with certain people? If the parliamentary secretary is saying that it is possible to have the two things 
running concurrently, then if there was a PBO that said, “And you’re not to have contact with person X”, 
presumably that PBO would prohibit person X from visiting the person in prison; or, if person X was in prison, 
will there not be a provision whereby those two people could not consort inside prison?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: That will not happen because, under clause 11, it will come into force at some 
later time. It cannot be in operation at the same time as someone is in custody. As for the question about 
shopping centres and the like, it does not mean a person is necessarily banned from going to the shops. It may be 
a person is banned from hanging around the shops when the shops are closed if a person is likely to vandalise 
property around shopping centres or commit graffiti offences.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: I am happy to take that up in later clauses. Let us now turn to a situation in which the 
PBO is not issued at the same time as the sentencing takes place. I understand the three-year rule and all that sort 
of thing. Can the situation arise in which the person who has been convicted of a relevant offence gets a knock 
on the door or receives something through the mail that says, “By the way, now we’re going to make this the 
subject of a PBO”?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes. It is entirely possible that someone, after they have been sentenced and 
orders made in respect of them, including fines and the like —  

Hon Sally Talbot: By “orders”, does the parliamentary secretary mean the sentence?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, the sentence imposed; sorry about that. A person who has been sentenced for 
an offence may subsequently be the subject of an application for a PBO. They would have to be given notice of 
that and the opportunity to be heard.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: The opportunity to be heard, does that turn into a full court proceeding with evidence 
being offered? What I am envisaging now is in seven days a person will come to court and the court will hear the 
provisions relating to the issuing of a PBO. I will ask a series of questions. Will that notice issued under 
clause 6(4)(d)(ii)—that is the seven days’ notice of a PBO proceeding—give full details of the PBO? Will it say, 
for example, “The PBO will prohibit you from going to the shopping centre” or “The PBO will prohibit you 
from hanging out with person X”?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Clause 6(4)(d)(ii) refers to a hearing notice. “Hearing notice” is defined in 
clause 3(1) as — 

… a notice in writing that specifies the date, time and place of a hearing of PBO proceedings and the 
terms of the PBO being sought; 

That is what will have to be served on the respondent.  

Hon SALLY TALBOT: So, the person knows the terms of the PBO being sought. Can the parliamentary 
secretary describe to me the nature of that PBO proceeding? Will it be a hearing where somebody comes with a 
lawyer and presents evidence to say this is a mistake? I am thinking of vexatious complaints about somebody’s 
behaviour, or the company that somebody is keeping—I am wondering what the nature of this PBO hearing 
would be. I think that there is a tendency in the community to make the assumption that a PBO does not relate to 
criminal activity. Of course, we also have the provision we will come to later about the civil standard of proof 
rather than the criminal standard of proof. I am getting a bit apprehensive about what will actually take place 
during the PBO hearing.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The bill covers all of that as well, in clauses 26 and 28. Clause 27 provides that 
PBO proceedings are taken to be civil proceedings for all purposes; and rules of evidence for civil proceedings 
apply. Otherwise, in terms of legal representation and the like, it is the same entitlement to legal representation 
as in any other court for any other proceedings. It is all in the bill.  

Hon KATE DOUST. We have been listening to the processes that apply to a PBO. When the PBO period 
expires, is any follow-up action taken by the courts? How will we measure, at the end of a PBO period, whether 
it has been effective?  
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The best affidavit of success would be that the person the subject of the prohibited 
behaviour order has not had to be brought to court for an antisocial offence. It is what we are trying to deter. If 
the order is set for three years and we do not hear from the offender again, then it has done its job.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: I would like to get some clarification. I thought I heard the parliamentary secretary say 
earlier that an application can be made after a person has been sentenced. When I read clauses 5 and 6 together, I 
do not think that is possible, but I am happy for that to be clarified by the parliamentary secretary.   

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The honourable member is correct. A PBO must be initiated by the prosecution 
after the conviction and before the sentence. If I have suggested otherwise, I have misspoken in that regard. 
However, that does not stop the court from initiating a PBO on its own initiative after the sentence. The hearing 
of the application, of course, can occur at some time in the future. An application for a PBO under clause 5 must 
be brought at the time by the prosecutor. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I am curious to know under what circumstances the court might make an application 
for a PBO after it has considered the sentencing of an individual. It seems a bit odd for the court to do that. One 
would think that the court would consider whether a PBO would be appropriate at the same time as it was 
making a decision about the sentencing. I am interested also in what would trigger a court after a sentence has 
been imposed to further consider the matter and call back the defendant for a hearing on a PBO. That seems to 
be an odd set of circumstances. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The making of the application must occur after the conviction and before the 
sentence. If the court has moved to record a conviction and sentence immediately, the sentencing could be 
adjourned to allow the prosecution to lodge an application. That is not unheard of in other types of applications 
before a court. If the court is of the view that an order is appropriate in as much as the conditions are satisfied 
and that it is appropriate to make the order in all the circumstances, the hearing of the matter and the making of 
an order can be made only after sentencing. That is because clause 10 provides that a PBO should not conflict 
with other orders that a court has made. Therefore, the court must sentence a person in order to know what order 
it is making before it can craft a PBO to deal with any other types of behaviour or constraints it wants to impose 
and believes ought to be imposed. Does that answer the member’s question? 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I need some more clarification. I appreciate the parliamentary secretary helping me, but 
I want to make sure that I grasp this correctly. Is the parliamentary secretary saying that even on the initiative of 
the court, the application for a PBO must be made after the court has convicted the person but before the court 
has sentenced the person and that the court can sentence the person but adjourn the imposition of the sentence for 
the hearing of a PBO application? Is that what the parliamentary secretary said? 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No. I will treat the two circumstances separately. Let us say that the court has an 
offender before it and, on the basis of the material that the court has available to it, considers that a prohibited 
behaviour order may be desirable. The court would not make an application; it would merely alert the parties to 
the fact that it was considering issuing a prohibited behaviour order and would adjourn the proceedings, I would 
have thought, to hear the parties on the order and whether one ought to be made and what sort of order ought to 
be made if one were to be made. However, the court can impose a PBO only after it has sentenced the offender. 
That is a precondition to making a PBO. In the case of a prosecution application, the application has to be lodged 
after the court has convicted the person for that offence and before the court has sentenced the person. That is the 
lodging of the paper that says the prosecution is applying for a PBO and these are the terms of it. Again, that 
hearing may be adjourned to a later date. 

Committee interrupted, pursuant to temporary orders. 

[Continued on page 9417.]  

Sitting suspended from 4.15 to 4.30 pm 
 


